
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 20th January, 2017

10.00 am

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Friday, 20th January, 2017, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), Ms H Carpenter, 
Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Ms L Fisher, 
Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms B Haskins, Mr A Heather, Mrs S Howes, Ms N Khosla, 
Mr G Lymer, Ms D Marsh, Mrs C Moody, Mr B Neaves, Mr P Segurola, Ms B Taylor, 
Mr M J Vye, Mrs J Whittle and Vacancy (Apprentices' shared seat)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

Item 
No
The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

A.  PANEL BUSINESS
A1 Apologies and substitutes 

A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 9 November 2016 (Pages 5 - 18)

A3 Meeting dates 2017/2018 
To note that the following dates have been reserved for meetings of the Panel in 
2017/2018.  All meetings will take place at County Hall, Maidstone.

Friday 20 January 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 20 March 2017 – 1.00 pm
Friday 19 May 2017 – 10.00 am
Friday 21 July 2017 – 10.00 am
Monday 18 September 2017 – 1.00 pm
Thursday 9 November 2017 – 10.00 am



Monday 29 January 2018 – 1.00 pm
Thursday 22 March 2018 – 10.00 am

A4 Chairman's Announcements 

A5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

A6 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 

B.  ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION
B1 Review of operation of the new Corporate Parenting Panel model (Pages 19 - 

24)

B2 Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 
- 2015 - 2018 (Pages 25 - 32)

B3 Head  Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) Annual Report 2015 - 16 (Pages 33 
- 52)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

John Lynch,
Head of Democratic Services
03000 410466

Thursday, 12 January 2017

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room, 
Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 9 November 2016.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs Z Wiltshire (Vice-Chairman), 
Ms H Carpenter, Mrs T Carpenter, Mrs P T Cole, Mr T Doran, Ms M Emptage 
(Substitute for Ms S Dunn), Mr M Heale (Substitute for Mr B Neaves), Mr A Heather, 
Mrs S Howes, Ms N Khosla, Mr G Lymer, Ms D Marsh, Ms C  Mutton (Substitute for 
Ms S Dunstan), Mr P Segurola, Ms S Titchner (Substitute for Ms B Taylor), 
Mr M J Vye and Mrs J Whittle

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs S Hammond (Assistant Director of Specialist Children's 
Services, West Kent), Mrs S Skinner (Head of Adoption Service), Ms Y Shah 
(Coram/Kent Partnership Project Manager) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic 
Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

176. Motion to exclude the press and public for exempt business 

The Panel resolved that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

EXEMPT ITEMS (OPEN ACCESS TO MINUTES)

177. The views of Young People in Care on post-Adoption support 
(Item 1)

1. A party of five young people attended the meeting to tell the Panel about their 
experiences of being adopted and, with two of their adoptive parents – Debbie and 
David – and three members of staff – Rebecca, Clare and Lindsay, the services 
available to support children and families following adoption. 

2. The young people gave an introduction about the range and type of work 
undertaken by Coram’s ‘Adoptables’ team, including a drama group which had filmed 
productions to help with training in the issues facing young people going through 
adoption and the support they would like to have. 

3. They then presented ‘interviews’ in which they asked each other about the 
benefits they had each gained from being part of the Adoptables group, how they 
wished to see it develop in the future and how they would promote the group to new 
members. BENEFITS included being able to talk to and network with other young 
people of the same age, who had experienced the same process, and being in an 
environment in which they felt safe and able to express their opinions about those 
experiences. FUTURE WISHES included expansion of the project to reach more 
young people. 

Page 5

Agenda Item A2



4. They also spoke about their achievements as members of the group, including 
learning presentation skills as part of being in a theatre group, and the boost in 
confidence and self-esteem that this had brought.  A video clip of the theatre group 
was then shown to the Panel.

5. Clare added that feedback from adoptive parents had emphasised the 
increase in confidence and self-esteem their adopted children had gained from being 
part of the Adoptables, as well as help to overcome their feeling of being ‘different’ 
from friends and classmates. Rebecca added that the group’s drama productions had 
been a great success and had been very well received, and the young people 
involved said they had gained a sense of belonging by being in a group. 

6. Debbie said the services Coram were now delivering were ones which she 
had been seeking since becoming an adoptive parent 15 years ago.  She thanked 
Rebecca, Clare and Lindsay for their work and for the great support they gave to 
adoptive parents. Young people felt safe at Adoptables activities. 

7. David added that being part of the Adoptables had been a positive experience 
for his daughter.  As an adopted child, she had felt different from friends and 
classmates, and being part of the group and being able to share her experiences had 
helped her to build confidence, feel ‘normal’ and fit in. He added that having friendly 
and accessible staff working with adoptive parents made a big difference to parents’ 
experiences. However, adoptive parents had to work with many different agencies, 
and finding their way through this could be difficult and confusing.  He also placed on 
record his thanks to the adoption team for all their work and support. 

8. Lindsay explained that the Adoptables were part of a national network of 
similar groups, in which the Kent group stood out as an example of best practice. She 
commended their work and said that good practice developed in one area would be 
shared with and spread to other areas of the country. The groups were started to 
address issues being faced by adopted children at school and to increase 
understanding among teachers and pupils of adopted status, increase awareness of 
‘non-standard’ family set-ups and deal with how to broach questions about adoption. 
To achieve this, educational materials developed by the Adoptables had been 
included in PHSE lessons.      

9. A video clip of interviews with Adoptables ‘Ambassadors’ was then shown to 
the Panel. This featured young people speaking about their experiences of being 
adopted and what they had gained from it, how they viewed their adopted status and 
what support they had received, and wished to receive. They also spoke about their 
experiences at school, how they presented their adoptive status among friends and 
classmates, and how many of their problems they had as young people were the 
same as those experienced by any young person. Managing adoptive status could 
become more complicated as young people grew older, but once friends knew and 
understood their status, the situation tended to become easier. They spoke about 
their status and how they felt about it, and what they would like other young people to 
understand about it. To be asked questions about being adopted was generally OK, 
but to have jokes made about it was not OK.  

10. Lindsay added that the Adoptables had interviewed all young people who 
wished to take part and speak about their experiences, even if they did not want their 

Page 6



faces to be shown in the video, which some had not. She advised the Panel that the 
video was available to view on the Coram website, and offered to send a link to it to 
Panel members, via the Democratic Services Officer. 

11. Clare and Rebecca spoke about their vision for the future of the Adoptables, to 
continue to benefit young people and help them to express their ideas and develop 
confidence.  It had taken time to build up the Adoptables project and for it to bed in, 
working with Coram and the County Council’s new Head of Adoption, Sarah Skinner, 
to increase engagement, make young people’s voices part of the process and 
establish links to other young people’s groups. 

12. Lindsay added that the schools toolkit had been developed nationally, and 
included an element by which young people could develop learning programmes for 
adoptive parents.  Young people’s knowledge of social media and input into clear and 
engaging literature would help in raising awareness, and they would be directly 
involved in developing workshops and training materials. Other work included a 
social group, run with the Young Lives Foundation, which had added advocacy to the 
engagement role, increasing levels of participation by young people aged 7 – 12 and 
the development of an apprenticeship scheme. 

13. Clare, Rebecca and Lindsay thanked the Panel for allowing them to attend 
with the party of young people to tell the Panel about their work.  

14. The visitors then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as 
follows:-

a) some children were more used to having school friends who were adopted 
and so accepted the idea more readily.  Children would naturally compare 
and express curiosity about friends’ families, and efforts to ‘normalise’ 
adoptive families and other set-ups, such as same-sex couples, could help 
children to accept them.  However, many children had not come across 
adoption, so the toolkit for teachers would help to address questions asked 
by children at school;

b) Youth Advisory Groups (YAGs), which existed in each district of Kent, were 
suggested as another forum with which the Adoptables group could make 
useful connections to engage young people in care.  It would also be useful 
to try to get some adopted children on to Youth Councils as ambassadors;

c) Mr Segurola asked the young people how good the County Council was at 
listening to them and was told that listening was ‘pretty good’ but that the 
process for providing a response was slow; 

d) Rebecca explained that the schools toolkit had grown from young people’s 
enthusiasm to tackle issues around approaching adoption status at school, 
and they had developed it themselves. David added that he would like to 
see greater awareness in the education system of the issues faced by 
adopted young people. The conference held by Coram at County Hall on 7 
October, about adopted children and education, had been good, but still it 
was difficult to get many schools to engage with the subject, and there 
were some areas of the county in which the education system was simply 
not set up to support adoptive parents. The Chairman suggested that a 

Page 7



module on adoption could be included in teacher training courses, in the 
same way that it was in social work courses; 

e) Debbie advised that all children in care, not just adopted ones, could 
experience challenges around attachment and trauma, with which they 
would need support, both at home and at school.  She added that the 
Adoptables group was fantastic at helping adopted children to find a voice.  
It would be good to extend involvement to the NHS, to tackle issues around 
CAMHS; 

f) a Panel member who served as a school governor commented that she 
had not previously known much about adoption. The schools toolkit would 
be excellent for raising awareness among governors and teaching staff and 
she requested that a link to it be sent to all local authority schools;

g) the young people who had attended today’s Panel meeting were able to 
speak out and express their feelings, but many young people were not so 
able to express themselves in this way. It was suggested that more 
confident young people could mentor and encourage others to find their 
voice. Rebecca advised that a mentoring scheme among adopter parents 
was being developed but there was not yet one for young people. It was 
important to bear in mind that young people were at different stages in their 
journeys through the adoption process, and some may simply be more 
ready than others to engage and start to tackle issues; 

h) Debbie advised that, as a result of the support received from being part of 
the Adoptables, her adopted son had built up sufficient confidence to take 
up an apprenticeship, for which he commuted to London every day.  Two 
years ago this simply would not have been possible for him; and

i) concern was expressed that the videos shown to the Panel, being  
accessible on the Coram  website, might place participants at risk of 
potential exploitation.  Lindsay assured the Panel that anyone seeking to 
access the videos on the website would be required to register and state 
their purpose in wishing to view the films, and that access was carefully 
monitored.  In that way, the site operators would know who had access to it 
and for what purpose, and had contact details for all those who had 
requested access. Every young person involved in making the films had 
consented to share them. 

15. The Chairman thanked the visitors for attending and said it would be helpful to 
see them again in perhaps a few months’ or a year’s time to see how they were 
getting on.   

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

178. Membership 

The Panel noted that Louise Fisher had taken over the role of Strategic Lead for 
Youth Justice from Stuart Collins and had replaced him as a member of the Panel. 

Page 8



179. Apologies and substitutes 
(Item A1)

Apologies for absence had been received from Sue Dunn, Sophia Dunstan, Louise 
Fisher, Stuart Griffiths, Bethan Haskins, Carolyn Moody, Peter Oakford, Bob Neaves, 
Gemma O’Grady and Bella Taylor. 

Martyn Heale was present as a substitute for Bob Neaves. 

180. Minutes 
(Item A2)

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel’s meeting held on 23 September 2016 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters 
arising.

181. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item A3)

1. The Chairman commented that the preceding session with young people had 
been both enjoyable and very useful. She suggested that it be repeated regularly with 
the same or a similar group of adopted young people  and adopters so the Panel 
could see how those involved were getting on and how the issues they had raised 
were being dealt with.  Participation in such meetings was a useful thing for a young 
person to be able to include on their CV, and the Chairman undertook to write to 
them for this purpose. 

2. The Chairman also announced that one of the foster carers on the Panel, 
Carolyn Moody and her husband Derek had won a national award for their work as 
permanency carers. The Panel congratulated them and the Chairman undertook to 
write to them on behalf of the Panel. A letter was subsequently sent by the Chairman 
of the County Council. 

182. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item A4)

1. Ms Titchner and Ms Mutton gave a verbal update on recent work undertaken 
by the participation team on behalf of the Children in Care Councils (CICCs), the 
Super Council and Young Adult Council (YAC).  The text of the update is appended 
to these minutes. 

2. In response to a question about the suggestion that young people in care be 
given a free provisional driving licence when they reached 17, Ms Titchner explained 
that this had not been the subject of a challenge card but was something that young 
people felt would be useful to have as proof of identity and address.  This would be 
easier than carrying a passport around with them, which would be more difficult and 
more expensive to replace if lost. 

Page 9



183. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item A5)

In the absence of the Cabinet Member, Mr Segurola reported that the Leader of the 
County Council, Paul Carter, had attended a very good meeting of the Young Adult 
Council (YAC) in October, at which young people had been very vocal in expressing 
their opinions to him. The issue of unaccompanied asylum seeking children (UASC) 
had also been discussed.

184. Kent/Coram Partnership Report - Post-Adoption Support Team 
(Item B1)

1. Ms Shah introduced the report, which covered the partnership’s first year’s 
work, and highlighted key events and plans for future work.  Ms Shah,  Mrs Skinner 
and Ms Khosla responded to comments and questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) the children and young people’s participation group was seeking to 
increase its membership and range of activities and the plan was for a 
group for young adopted children to be established in the new year. 

b) the progress made in a very few years was warmly welcomed. Mr Segurola 
added that Kent’s adoption service had benefitted greatly from Coram’s 
involvement;

c) the number of adopter-mentors was currently 14.  Their role was to give 
short-term support to new adopters and act as a sounding board for any 
problems or concerns that adopters did not feel able to, or wish to, share 
with their social worker. This scheme had much support from social 
workers; 

d) demand for new post-adoption therapeutic and social work services had 
grown rapidly.  However, as the adoption support fund was recently limited 
to £5,000 per child, its use in purchasing such services for a child was very 
limited.  It was hoped that the £5,000 cap would not be reduced in the 
2017-18 financial year. Ms Shah advised that charges for therapeutic 
assessments and interventions varied greatly. Ms H Carpenter advised that 
the health service did not pay the highest rates and offered to provide any 
Panel member who wished it with details of the rates paid; and

e) it was clarified that the Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s Services, 
Peter Oakford, was a member of the Adoption Improvement Partnership 
Group, which looked at the strategic development of adoption services. 
The Adoption Advisory Board was composed of adopters only.  A view was 
expressed that elected County Councillors should have first-hand 
involvement, wherever possible, in the development of the County 
Council’s adoption services. 

2. RESOLVED that the progress made be welcomed and the future priorities be 
noted.

Page 10



185. Kent Clinical Commissioning Groups update report on the Health of 
Looked After Children 
(Item B2)

1. Ms H Carpenter introduced the report and responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, as follows:-

a) completion of health assessments for children coming into care, and the 
health services they received whilst in care, were both subjects about 
which the Panel had been concerned in the past and wished to see 
reviewed, and the information set out in the report about the improved 
delivery of these services was welcomed;

b) it was confirmed that the information about health services was publicly 
available and it was suggested that links to it could be shared on social 
media;

c) there was a good working relationship between the NHS and the Police, in 
the context of young people experiencing mental health problems and 
possibly displaying anti-social behaviour as a result, but a view was 
expressed that this could be given a higher profile in the report.  The new 
Police and Crime Commissioner had highlighted young people’s mental 
health issues as one of his main concerns; and

d) the Corporate Parenting Panel had long championed the provision of good 
mental health services for children and young people via CAMHS, and had 
received regular reports in the past, particularly  about waiting times across 
the county.  Ms Carpenter assured the Panel that the service was closely 
monitored to see that target times were being met. She confirmed that 
waiting time targets were being met in most CCG areas and that a new 
specification for the service would be applied from September 2017.  She 
undertook to respond outside the meeting to a specific query about waiting 
lists in Thanet. Mr Segurola added that the County Council intended to 
further strengthen CAMHS for children in care in its future commissioning. 
It would be possible to give more detail on latest work in future reports to 
the Panel, and an item would be added to the Panel’s work programme for 
a future meeting.  

2. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, with thanks. 

186. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) - update report 
(Item B3)

1. Mrs Hammond introduced the report and updated the Panel on activity since 
the issue had last been reported to the Panel in September:

 social workers from Kent were currently in France, assisting French authorities 
to place the children from the Calais ‘jungle’.   

 since the start of the National Transfer Scheme (NTS) in July 2016, 117 of the 
152 UASC who had arrived in Kent since July had been moved on to other 
local authorities in the UK.

Page 11



 the County Council would continue to lobby the Home Office about the 
challenges of coping with large numbers of UASC and the inadequacy of 
government funding to cover the demands of caring for them, particularly 
those over 18, for which funding did not cover the costs of providing leaving 
care services.  

 an ongoing challenge for UASC in Kent was access to suitable school and 
college courses, including English as a Second Language (ESOL).

2. Mrs Hammond and Mr Segurola responded to comments and questions from 
the Panel, as follows:-

a) Kent would have the costs of placing four social workers and two team 
managers in France refunded by the Home Office. This work had been 
progressing well and was helping the County Council’s relationship with the 
Home Office, which now seemed to be understanding the challenge facing 
Kent and the legacy of long-standing UASC cases upon which the NTS would 
have no impact;

b) it was confirmed that the staff in France were from the central UASC service 
which has been set up in 2015. Their absence from their usual posts in Kent 
would not impact on the support and services available to Kent’s own children 
in care and those facing the challenges of leaving care, which continue to be a 
struggle for young people and the foster carers supporting them; 

c) the central UASC team had been set up to support and look after the high 
numbers of unaccompanied children who entered Kent’s care last year, who 
would otherwise have been supported by the mainstream children in care 
services (already looking after 1,400 children in care from across the county). 
As the majority of UASC who entered Kent’s care in 2015 were older 
teenagers, and were now passing their 18th birthdays and becoming eligible 
for leaving care services, the County Council was seeing the impact on the 
18plus service. The number of UASC care leavers was gradually increasing 
from a baseline of 300 to the present 600, and would reach 1,000 by the end 
of 2017. The structure and capacity of the 18plus service was being reviewed 
to meet this increased demand, to avoid detriment to Kent’s citizen care 
leavers;

d) if all local authorities in England, except London Boroughs, were to take a 
share of UASC so that no one local authority had more than the Home Office’s 
calculated minimum of 0.07% of the population, there should be places for 
11,000 UASC.  However, currently only 4,000 UASC had been placed out of 
Kent;  

e) concern was expressed about the County Council’s scope to support care 
leavers wishing to continue their education at university, in terms of helping 
them to pay fees or find accommodation; and

f) more detail was requested of the number of UASC over 16 in education or 
training, and Mrs Hammond undertook to provide this information to the Panel 
via the Democratic Services Officer.

Page 12



3. The Chairman thanked Mrs Hammond and her team for their work in the 
pressured and trying field they worked in and acknowledged the much extra work 
they undertook to help and support UASC arriving in Kent.  

4. RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in response to 
comments and questions be noted, with thanks. 

   

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Wednesday 9th November 2016

Corporate Parenting Panel update – 

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

October Activities

The VSK Apprentices had another busy half term with lots of activities and meetings going on:

- 24th October: KSPA Theatre Arts – 25 Children in Care attended. They all took part in Dance, 
Drama, Singing and Makeup Workshops throughout the day.  They all took part and really 
enjoyed themselves.  All young people them performed their dances and song to their carers 
in the theatre at the end of the day. 

- 28th October: London African Drumming - 16 Children in care attended. They participated in 
African drumming, traditional African dancing and arts and craft. They then performed their 
dances and drumming at the end of the day to their carers. 
We also spoke about the Children in Care Councils at the activity days and several young 
people have said they are interested in finding out more and joining up.

Super Council – for 7 to 11s

Tuesday 25th October 2016: 12 Children in Care attended this meeting in Maidstone. We had a 
Halloween themed meeting and made spooky cupcakes. Existing members told the new members 
why they liked coming. They said it was a place they felt safe and could come and make new friends 
who were also in care. They said it was a place they could talk about what it’s like being in care and 
what they thought about their carers and Social Workers. We think this group will make great 
members of the OCYPC in the future.

We asked what members would like to be included on the website for children in care of their age. 
They came up with some really good ideas to refresh the Kent cares Town website. Responses were 
as follows:

 A website that is made just for their age group with things they are interested in
 Have a virtual job area. An example of a fireman was used where by you are set tasks to 

complete that a real life fireman would undertake. This was suggested as being a great way 
to get young people thinking about possible career paths from an early age

 An age appropriate TV channel with useful information on it
 Giving information but in a quick way that is easy to read and understand
 The suggestion was made to have a mascot which can be associated with the website. The 

Kent Council horse but made into a cartoon figure was suggested 
 Having corporate parents displayed on website with cartoon bodies and real life heads to 

make them more personable to young people 
 Having a website that is split into 3 age relative sub-pages. To look like the lay out of the 

CBBC/CBeebies website. Clear and easy to use. 

Page 15



OCYPC 

Tuesday 25th October 2016:  14 Children in Care attended this meeting. 

WE asked for existing members help in getting other young people to sign up and join the OCYPC. 
We did an activity where they told us their reasons for joining, some of the things they said were:

 “Come and make friends”
 “Get your voice heard”
 “Tell people your views”
 “Say what is good and what is bad”
 “To meet new people”
 “To change things that happen in care”
 “Fix key issues in the care system”
 “Share experiences”
 “To have fun”
 “To see your relatives” (Eg. Sisters who do not live together)
 “Get you out of the house”
 “Try new activities”
 “Talk to eachother”
 “You get to meet Jo, Sophie and Reece”
 “To see friends you haven’t seen for a while”
 “My views can change lives of others, which I give at the OCPYC”

We asked their views on the Kent Cares Town Website and how we could refresh it and make it 
more current. Members were also asked how they access the internet, and the majority of members 
said they use an IPad or other tablet to access. This was closely followed by accessing using a mobile 
phone. Not many members said they use a desktop/laptop to go on the internet. Thy said KCT was 
hard to view on their tablets and laptops.

Their views were that they wanted something that was:

 Easy to use and navigate and be more personally written
 Age suitable- having three different tabs for three different age groups
 To have a clear menu and navigation page
 Have an app to use with a mobile phone- but also said this may not be good because of 

phone memory

We asked what content members would like to see on the website: 

 Quotes wall from real people about being in care. (Wall with post its notes with quotes on)
 Real life stories
 Make secondary age category to have interactive games to encourage engagement
 Information on transitions in school
 Give more  info on the Children in Care Councils 
 Help and advice section from young people who have been in care for a while to help other 

young people who have just come into care

Page 16



We are looking at ways we can update and improve the current Kent Cares website, we would like to 
refresh and do some sort of relaunch to make sure young people in care and care leavers know 
about it.

Wednesday 26th October 2016: East/South Kent Super Council & OCYPC meetings: Unfortunately 
we had to cancel this meeting due to the numbers of attendees being low. We are still unable to 
break down barriers with Carers in the East Kent area; we feel this isn’t good enough. We would like 
to refer back the County Wide Meeting in August where we asked: 

Q. What do you think is the purpose and role of Children in Care Council?

  A. To get your voice heard, making changes for the better

Q. What are the things that Corporate Parents need to do to help the Children in Care Councils 
achieve its purpose?

A. To be accessible to all children in care at all times

A. To work with foster carers to help new into care children feel supported and able to come to 
children in care meetings- help young people adjust to the care system and placements

We would like to ask for your support in helping us really drive this forward and to work alongside us 
in working with carers to show the importance of the Children in Care Councils and the positive 
outcomes Children in Care achieve whilst attending.  The VSK Participation are making it one of their 
priorities in 2017 to increase membership of the Councils in East and South Kent.

YAC

During the summer the VSK Participation team held a 16+ activity day at Go Ape- this day was 
specifically for non YAC members and was a great chance for us to promote YAC to the young people 
who attended. From this day eight YP attended, and six of those have now became YAC members. 
This shows how important it is to have direct contact with young people in order to fully promote 
and explain the purpose of YAC, as well as being able to express how much fun we have at YAC.  

This year, YAC has covered life skills such as; first aid, cooking on a budget, cv/employment skills and 
healthy eating. YAC has also been part of discussions and feedback, getting members voices heard 
and making a difference. YAC met with the head of the 18+ service, who wanted to know how they 
can make their services better for care leavers and what can prepare young people before they turn 
18. YAC have also given input into the design of the pathway plan and gave their feedback on the 
current Kent Cares Town website. 

At the November YAC we discussed what we would like the aims of YAC to be in 2017. YAC members 
told us in 2017 they would like to go on more activities, especially ones involving team work as a 
group so they can grow and gain confidence. Other things discussed included:

 Free train passes for YAC members who have attended more than 3 YAC meetings- to get to 
and from YAC easily

Page 17



 Ensure all YP have a free bus pass
 17+ young  people to get a free provisional driver’s licence
 Having more information about university options, specifically for children in care, which 

involves entitlements and support 

YAC also said in 2017 they would like to fundraise for another charity, as was done in September for 
The Who Cares Trust. The importance of 16+ support workers and 18+ personal advisors telling their 
young people about YAC was vitally important- as many members have found out about YAC 
through different means. 

The recruit crew is doing really well, with training being given which now provides young people that 
attend a LASER qualification in Interview Training for Service Users. YAC members have attended this 
training, and now have another qualification to add to their CV’s.

Regional Children in Care Councils

Jo & Gemma also attended a meeting with the Office of the Children’s Commissioner last week to 
discuss developing a regional network of support for Children in Care Councils in the South East of 
England. Initial plans are being made to put on an event next year that brings together various South 
East children in care councils with Directors of Children’s Services and Lead Members. The Children’s 
Commissioner will also attend the event. 

We think this will be a good idea and will help us build relationships with Kent CiC who live in other 
local authorities. We will update you further about this at the next meeting.

Page 18



By Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 January 2017

Subject: REVIEW OF OPERATION OF THE NEW CORPORATE 
PARENTING PANEL MODEL 

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: Following a decision by Members at the meeting on 15 March 2016 to 
merge the Kent Corporate Parenting Group and the Corporate Parenting Panel, it 
was agreed that the operation of the new combined Panel should be reviewed after 
six months in operation.

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to DISCUSS the 
operation of the current Corporate Parenting Panel model.

1. Current Model

1.1 The merger of the Kent Corporate Parenting Group and the Corporate 
Parenting Panel took effect from 1 April 2016, with the aim of bringing together 
elected Councillors and multi-agency partners in a forum that would ensure the 
best interests of all Looked After Children in Kent’s care are given the highest 
priority and would help to shape the Council’s agenda.

1.2 Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to consider whether the 
current model has been successful in achieving these aims. 

1.3 The Terms of Reference for the amalgamated Panel are shown below, 
alongside a revised and updated membership list.

2. Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference April 2016

2.1 About the Corporate Parenting Panel

2.1.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP) is a multi-agency forum made up of Kent 
County Council’s elected councillors representing all parties as well as the 
multi-agency partners in Kent who are responsible for delivering good and 
effective Corporate Parenting for Children and Young People.

2.1.2 The Panel, chaired by the Deputy Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services, confirms the joint commitment to improving services and outcomes 
for children and care leavers for whom the Council is corporate parent.  The 

Page 19

Agenda Item B1



Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the Panel will be drawn from the Kent County 
Council’s elected councillors.

2.1.3 The Panel’s role is to lead on ensuring the Corporate Parenting responsibilities 
of the multi-agency partnership are being met, in line with the Children Act 
1989. Section 22 of the Children Act 1989 sets out the general duty of the local 
authority in relation to children looked after by them; to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of these children, ensuring effective, individualised support and 
access to services.  This duty is inclusive of both children and young people 
with care orders and those provided with accommodation.

2.1.4 Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-16 sets out what 
good and effective Corporate Parenting looks like, alongside our key strategic 
objectives.  The Strategy’s ambitions assist in the Council’s overarching vision 
that “Children and Young People in Kent get the best start in life”.

2.1.5 This commitment is one of three strategic outcomes which provide a simple and 
effective focus for everything the Council does; they are set out in Kent County 
Council’s Strategic Statement 2015-2020. 

2.2 The Corporate Parenting Panel is accountable:
 To the County Council and Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 

Services
 To looked after children, care leavers and their carers or guardians
 To each respective member on the Panel and the relevant senior 

management team of each agency that is represented.

2.3 Roles and Responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel:
 To develop expertise about services for and issues affecting children and 

young people, both in care and leaving care; in doing so, elected 
Councillors are enabled to fulfil their role as corporate parenting 
champions and advocates for Kent Children who are looked after, and 
those leaving local authority care

 To provide the multi-agency strategic direction for services and projects 
working to achieve good outcomes for both children in local authority and 
leaving care

 To actively raise the awareness of other elected Councillors, the Cabinet 
and the County Council to the whole Council’s corporate parenting 
responsibilities towards Kent’s Looked after children and care leavers

 To oversee and challenge progress and performance against the 
objectives within Kent’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers Strategy. 
The strategy consists of four priority areas which represent the corporate 
parenting ambitions for children and young people both in care and 
leaving care.  The four priority areas are:
1. Working Together and Learning;
2. Developing into successful and responsible adults;
3. Being emotionally, mentally and physically healthy; and
4. Feeling safe and nurtured in a home setting.

 To consider any changes arising from relevant legislation, guidance or 
reviews

Page 20



 To lead on ensuring that the corporate parenting roles and responsibilities 
of the Local Authority are being met, including:
 Local expectations and the promises made via Kent’s Pledge to 

Looked after Children and Kent’s Care Leavers Charter; 
 To be aware of national expectations regarding the services to looked 

after children (including Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children) and 
Care Leavers; including those contained in reports from the Office of 
the Children’s Commissioner, the adoption reform agenda, changes to 
permanent planning and the commitment to ‘staying put’;

 To creatively consider ways in which the Corporate Parenting Panel  
will hear and respond to the views of Looked after Children, Care 
Leavers, their parents and carers; 

 To have an understanding of the arrangements that need to be in place 
in order to be an effective Corporate Parent;

 To undertake an in-depth analysis of the needs of the County Council’s 
care population and all aspects of the service required to meet those 
needs, so there is clear evidence to inform future action;

 To take action continually, in conjunction with officers and partner 
agencies, to improve services and ensure it is responsive and meeting 
changing needs; and

 To report in in a timely manner to the relevant Local Member(s) as and 
when such may be required

 To support the chairman of the Corporate Parenting Panel, the Cabinet 
Member and Deputy Cabinet  Member for Specialist Children’s Services 
in undertaking their specialist Level 3 Corporate Parenting responsibilities 
(National Children’s Bureau, Hart and Williams 2013)

 To highlight the issues relevant for scrutiny
 To act as the governing body to the Virtual School for Kent
 To consider reports from the Kent Safeguarding Children’s Board (KSCB), 

0-25 Health and Wellbeing Board, Children’s Social Care and Health 
Cabinet Committee and Education and Young People’s Cabinet 
Committee in relation to Looked After Children and Care Leavers

 To consider Statistical Information about both looked after children and 
care leavers’ health and wellbeing and attainment.  To ensure that 
Corporate Parenting Panel members have enough background 
knowledge to understand and evaluate this information

 To work alongside Our Children and Young People’s Council in order to 
gather feedback from all those involved in and working with/on behalf of 
looked after children and care leavers.  This will include ongoing 
engagement with Foster Carers and other user groups.

Page 21



2.4 Membership

Ann 
Allen 
(Chair)

Deputy Cabinet Member for Specialist Children's 
Services 

Kent County 
Council

Geoff 
Lymer

Deputy Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Kent County 
Council

Penny 
Cole

Elected Councillor for Dartford East Kent County 
Council

Sue 
Howes

Elected Councillor for Northfleet & Gravesend West Kent County 
Council

Diane 
Marsh

Elected Councillor for Gravesham East Kent County 
Council

Bob 
Neaves

Elected Councillor for Folkestone South Kent County 
Council

Martin 
Vye

Elected Councillor for Canterbury City South West Kent County 
Council

Jenny 
Whittle

Elected Councillor for Maidstone Rural East Kent County 
Council

Zita 
Wiltshire

Elected Councillor for Broadstairs & Sir Moses 
Montefiore

Kent County 
Council

Carolyn 
Moody

Foster Carer Kent County 
Council

Teresa 
Carpenter

Foster Carer Kent County 
Council

Stuart 
Griffiths

Foster Carer Kent County 
Council

Bella 
Taylor

Apprentice Kent County 
Council

Sophia 
Dunstan

Apprentice Kent County 
Council

plus one shared seat for Apprentices – currently 
vacant

Kent County 
Council

Philip 
Segurola

Director, Specialist Children’s Services Kent County 
Council

Naintara 
Khosla

Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting Kent County 
Council

Sue 
Dunn

Head of Skills and Employability (Education and 
Young People’s Services)

Kent County 
Council

Tony 
Doran

Headmaster Virtual School Kent (VSK) Kent County 
Council

Andrew 
Heather

Principal Educational Psychologist Kent County 
Council

Louise 
Fisher

Early Help Head of Service and Youth Justice lead Kent County 
Council

Stephen 
Gray

Chief Executive Officer Young Lives 
Foundation

Hazel 
Carpenter

Accountable Officer South Kent Coast 
and Thanet CCGs

Bethan 
Haskins

Chief Nurse Ashford and 
Canterbury and 
Coastal CCGs

Page 22



3. Recommendations

3.1 Recommendations: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to DISCUSS the 
operation of the current CPP model.

4. Background Documents

None

5. Report Author/Lead Director
Philip Segurola
Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 23

mailto:Philip.Segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



By Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 January 2017

Subject: REVIEW AND UPDATE OF THE SUFFICIENCY, 
PLACEMENTS AND COMMISSIONING STRATEGY - 2015-
2018

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: Provides the Corporate Parenting Panel with an outline of the key issues 
identified to progress with the reviewing and updating of the Sufficiency, Placements 
and Commissioning Strategy.

Recommendation: Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to ENDORSE the proposal 
to review and update the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-
2018.

1. Introduction

1.1 Corporate Parenting Panel endorsed the Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018 and this was implemented in summer 
2015.  Two progress reports have been presented to the Corporate Parenting 
Panel since its implementation.

1.2 The Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting has implemented a review of the 
Sufficiency Strategy to ensure it is still meeting Ofsted requirements, and for the 
strategy to be updated to reflect the current and future demand, including our 
current and future accommodation offer for our most vulnerable children and 
young people from entering care through to transition.

2. Financial Implications

2.1 The authority makes a significant financial commitment to meet its statutory 
responsibilities to provide a sufficiency of accommodation for Children in Care 
(CiC) and Care Leavers. In particular, the cost of residential placements, 
independent fostering agency placements and semi-independent/shared 
accommodation is significant.

2.2 It should be noted that all placements are subject to review at the Assistant 
Director level through the Access to Resource Panels.  

Page 25

Agenda Item B2



3. Purpose of the Review

3.1 To establish a total picture of our accommodation offer for Children in Care and 
Care Leavers, whilst ensuring the Council is meeting its Sufficiency duties.

3.2 Establish appropriate links with the Children and Young People Outcomes 
Framework.

3.3 Enable the Council to plan a more effective and efficient approach to our future 
accommodation offer. 

4. Key Issues for Updating the Strategy

4.1 Analyse and learn from other authorities Sufficiency Strategies where they have 
been deemed as good by Ofsted.

4.2 The newly appointed Adoption and Fostering County Managers have, since 
coming into post, written their recruitment strategies.  These take into 
consideration future need along with a review of the numbers of 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC).  These recruitment 
strategies need to be linked to the Sufficiency Strategy.

4.3 The Children’s Commissioning Unit will lead on developing the Sufficiency 
Strategy to ensure it provides the Council and the public with its full 
accommodation offer.  The following accommodation is in scope:

 Fostering
 Childrens Homes
 Residential Special Schools
 Short Break Units
 Supported Accommodation in a Family Environment
 Semi-Independent Accommodation with Support
 Shared Accommodation (Independent)
 Reception Centres
 Safety Pods

4.4 This work will include an analysis of each of the above accommodations on:

 Demand – current and projected.
 Needs – which children and young people need this 

accommodation, and the right provision against need.
 Supply – market effectiveness and quality of provision e.g. 

Ofsted ratings.
 Finance – overall spend with providers, including average costs 

of placements.
 Interdependencies and related strategies – links to other work 

streams, the national dispersal scheme and opportunities, e.g. 
innovation bids. 

Page 26



5. A Review of Current Performance - Sufficiency, Placements and 
Commissioning Strategy (2015-18)  

5.1 The Sufficiency Strategy outlines four challenges, delivery of which is measured 
by the achievement against the eight measures, as set out in Appendix 1.  
Delivery of these four challenges will continue to be reported on whilst the 
Strategy and the wider accommodation offer for looked after children and young 
people are reviewed.

5.2 Our approach to meeting the Council’s responsibilities to provide secure, safe 
and appropriate accommodation to Children in Care and Care Leavers is 
centred around the five strategic levers that we believe will deliver 
improvements to sufficiency in Kent.  These are:

1. Enhancing early help, prevention and partnership working
2. Further developing in-house foster care services
3. Continuously improving quality of care
4. Market engagement
5. Continuing to build organisational effectiveness

5.3 The table outlined below provides a summary of the challenges and supporting 
measures outlined in the Sufficiency Strategy, which have been in place now for 
a year.  As we move forward with a review of the Sufficiency Strategy it is 
possible that these may change to reflect the challenges current being faced by 
the Council in meeting the sufficiency duty.

Table 1: Sufficiency Strategy – Key Challenges and Supporting Measures

Challenge 1:
The need for effective support and practice 
to ensure that as many children as possible 
are able to remain living at home with their 
families

Measure 1:
We will expect to see a reduction in 
the number of children and young 
people in Care

Challenge 2:
Provision of effective support and availability 
of suitable accommodation to meet the 
needs of Care Leavers

Measure 2:
We expect to see an increase in the 
percentage of Care Leavers who are  
living in suitable accommodation

Measure 3:
We expect to see an increase in the 
number of children placed within 20 
miles of their originating address for 
children with Disabilities and those in 
the West of the County

Challenge 3:
Access to high quality placements that 
support children in care to have stability and 
to achieve positive outcomes

Measure 4:
We expect to see the  percentage of 
children remaining in the same 
placement for two years to remain 
stable

Page 27



Measure 5:
We expect to grow and diversify the 
skill, capability and capacity of our in 
house foster carers
Measure 6: 
We expect to see a reduction in the 
number of  Children in Care that have 
three or more placement moves per 
year
Measure 7:
We expect to see a continued 
reduction in the length of time it takes 
between entering care of the Local 
Authority and an Adoption Order 
being granted. 

Challenge 4:
Quality of practice and support to meet the 
needs of Children in Care, improving their 
experience of care and achieving 
permanence

Measure 8:
An increase in the number of children 
in permanent long-term fostering 
placements

5.4 The current Sufficiency Strategy performance dashboard is attached at 
Appendix 1.  It provides a summary of the current performance (most recent 
figures as at September 2016) of the eight measures outlined within the 
strategy.

5.5 On the whole, progress against the eight measures has improved or remained 
stable, building on a gradually improving picture over the last year.  Measure 6 
(reduction of placement moves) has seen a slight reduction in performance and 
work is continuing to reduce the number of children who experience three or 
more placement moves per year. 

6. Legal Implications

6.1 The strategy meets the requirements of the Children’s Act 1989 and all other 
relevant legislation.

7. Implementation Proposals

7.1 The outcome of the Sufficiency Strategy review and update will be presented to 
Corporate Parenting Panel in March 2017.

8. Recommendations

8.1 Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to ENDORSE the proposal to review and 
update the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy 2015-2018.

Page 28



9. Background Documents

Kent County Council’s Sufficiency, Placement and Commissioning Strategy, 
2015-2018:http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-
policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-
strategy

10. Contact Details

Report Authors
Karen Sharp
Head of Children’s Strategic Commissioning
03000 416668
Karen.sharp@kent.gov.uk 

Michelle Hall
Commissioning Manager
03000 416189
Michelle.louisehall@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola, Director
Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 29

http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/childrens-social-care-and-families-policies/children-in-care-sufficiency-strategy
mailto:Karen.sharp@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Michelle.louisehall@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Sufficiency Strategy Performance Summary Jan 2017 (1) 

Challenge Measure Current Performance
Direction (Since 

previous quarter)

Challenge 1:  The need for 

effective support and Practice 

to ensure that as many children 

as possible are able to remain 

living at home with their 

families 

Measure 1: We will expect to see a 

reduction in the number of children 

and young people in Care

Citizen LAC population has seen a 

decrease of 0.8% between Sept 2015 

(1435) and Sept 2016 (1423).  UASC 

arrivals have decreased by 70.4% 

between July-Sept 2015 (368 starts) and 

July-Sept 2016 (109 starts).  The 

implementation of the National Dispersal 

Scheme should continue to impact on 

further reductions

Challenge 2: 

Provision of effective support 

and availability of suitable 

accommodation to meet the 

needs of Care Leavers

Measure 2: We expect to see an 

increase in the percentage of Care 

Leavers who are  living in suitable 

accommodation

92.5% of Care Leavers who were 

contactable are living in suitable 

accommodation, a 0.1% decrease since 

June 2016 reporting

Challenge 3: Access to high 

quality placements that 

support children in care to have 

stability and to achieve positive 

outcomes

Measure 3: We expect to see an 

increase in the number of children 

placed within 20 miles of their 

originating address for children with 

Disabilities and those in the West of 

the County

Numbers of disabled children being 

placed within 20 miles of home has 

decreased by 1 child from Sept 2015 (62) 

and Sept 16 (61)

The numbers of children from the West 

of the County being placed within 20 

miles from their home has decreased 

from 242 last year, to 208 this year, a 

reduction of 14%

Measure 4: We expect to see the  

percentage of children remaining 

the in the same placement for two 

years to remain stable

There has been a marginally improving 

picture over the past three years, with 

71.3% of children who have been LAC for 

at least 2.5 years remaining in the same 

placement

Remaining 

Stable

Remaining 

Stable

P
age 31



Sufficiency Strategy Performance Summary Jan 2017 (2) 

Challenge Measure Current Performance
Direction (Since previous 

quarter)

Challenge 3: Access to high 

quality placements that support 

children in care to have stability 

and to achieve positive 

outcomes

Measure 5: We expect to grow and 

diversify the skill, capability and 

capacity of our in house foster carers

The % of children placed in 

KCC foster placements has 

remained stable with 67% of 

our CIC (ex UASC) placed in 

Sept 2015 and 66.6% placed in 

Sept 2016

Challenge 4: 

Quality of practice and support 

to meet the needs of Children in 

Care , improving their 

experience of care and achieving 

permanence

Measure 6: We expect to see a 

reduction in the number of  Children 

in Care that have three or more 

placement moves per year

There has been an increase in 

the number of children who 

have had 3+ placement moves 

in the last year from 12% as at 

Dec 15 to 13.4% in Sept 16

Measure 7: We expect to see a 

continued reduction in the  length of 

time it takes between entering care 

of the Local Authority  and an 

Adoption Order being granted

Whilst slightly up from the 

June 2016 figure, the overall 

trend shows a clear reduction 

in the number of days over the 

last year from 474.8 in Dec 15 

to 364.6 in Sept 16

Measure 8: An increase in the 

number of children in permanent 

long term fostering placements

The use of ‘permanency’ as a 

long term care option for 

children has slightly increased 

with 1025 LAC in permanent 

fostering arrangements in Sept 

2015, and 1037 in Sept 2016.

Improving 

Picture

Less effective 

performance

Improving 

Picture

P
age 32



By Peter Oakford, Cabinet Member for Specialist Children’s 
Services

Andrew Ireland, Corporate Director of Social Care, Health and 
Wellbeing

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 20 January 2017

Subject: HEAD TEACHER OF VIRTUAL SCHOOL KENT (VSK) 
ANNUAL REPORT 2015-16

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary: This Head Teacher of Virtual School Kent Annual Report 2015-16 
(attached as Appendix 1) provides Members with an overview of the impact and 
priorities for the Virtual School Head Teacher.

Recommendation: The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the progress 
made by the Virtual School Kent during 2015-16.

1. Introduction

1.1 The 2015-16 academic year has been a successful one for our students.  This 
year has seen unprecedented national changes in educational assessment, yet 
the majority of our students made good or better progress throughout the 
academic year.  It has also seen the best key stage 4 outcomes for our young 
people since the DfE changed the assessment methodology to first entry only in 
2013.  Furthermore the Virtual School has evidenced a significant drop in 16-18 
year old that are Not in Education, Training or Employment (NEET) and seven 
young people successfully gained entry to their chosen universities and 
associated courses.

1.2 There have been a multitude of success stories this year, evidenced at our 
Annual Awards Ceremony held at Kent County Cricket Ground in Canterbury. 
Our young people who attended had been nominated by their schools, social 
worker, foster carer or the Virtual School for their academic successes or their 
wider contribution to the school, home or community.  Over 300 nominations 
were received in 2015-2016, making it our most successful year ever.

1.3 The Virtual School has significantly developed participation and engagement 
this academic year which has seen the development of our Young Adults 
Council (YAC), the strengthening of the Our Children and Young People 
Council (OCYPC) with local councils being piloted across the county and the 
introduction of our junior council known as the “Super Council”.  The number of 
activity days hosted has increased from 14 activity days in 2013-14 to 19 days 
2015-2016, which has increased the number of our young people who have 

Page 33

Agenda Item B3



been able to attend these participation days.  The feedback from our young 
people on the activity days remains extremely positive. 

1.4 Although 2015-2016 has been a positive year for our Children in Care, we want 
all our young people within the Virtual School to continue this journey of 
improvement and our support in 2016-17 will reflect this ambition.

2. Recommendations

2.1 Recommendation:  The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the 
progress made by the Virtual School Kent during 2015-16.

3. Background Documents

None

4. Contact Details

Report Author
Tony Doran
Virtual School Headteacher
07921038094
Tony.doran@kent.gov.uk

Relevant Director
Philip Segurola
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 413120
Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk

Page 34

mailto:Tony.doran@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Philip.segurola@kent.gov.uk


Virtual School Kent
Annual Report 2015/2016

Updated: 7 December 2016

Page 35



Contents

1. Executive Summary Page 3

2. Demographics Page 5

3. Attainment – Analysis of reporting years Page 6

4. Attendance and Exclusion Page 10

5. Participation and Engagement Page 11

6. Pupil Premium Plus (PP+) Page 15

7. Priorities for 2016-2017 Page 17

Related Plans and Strategies
Promoting the Education of Looked After Children-Statutory 
Guidance for Local Authorities (DfE July 2014) 

Pupil Premium and the role of the Virtual School Head (DfE 
March 2014) 

KCC Every Day Matters – Children and Young People’s 
Strategic Plan 2013-2016

Kent Children in Care Sufficiency Strategy 2015 – 2018

Looked after Children and Care Leavers Strategy 2015-2016

Page 36



Executive Summary
The vision for the Virtual School is that all our children in care achieve expected or 
better than expected levels of progress. We further aspire for their outcomes to be 
equal to that of their non-care peers despite their journey into care. This will be 
achieved through working at a strategic and operational level within the local 
authority and with the many partners of schools, health, voluntary sector, members, 
carers and young people. 

The work of the Virtual School falls into three categories:
 Operational Support for children and young people – ensuring they all have a 

Personal Education Plan (PEP) and receive appropriate support from our 
team of VSK Support Officers.

 Training for multi-agency professionals, elected members and carers.
 Tracking, monitoring and evaluating outcomes and practice, identifying and 

securing service improvements.

The Virtual School has grown considerably to areas beyond the statutory schooling 
age of 5-16 of children in care. We aspire to be a birth to 25 years’ service. We have 
grown the scope to include early years and 16-18 year olds and have extended the 
Care Council to 21 year olds.

The Virtual School has significantly developed participation and engagement this 
academic year which has seen the development of our Young Adults Council (YAC), 
the strengthening of the OCYPC with local councils being piloted across the county 
and the introduction of our junior council known as the “Super Council”. We have 
increased the number of activity days that we host from 14 activity days in 2013-14 
to 19 days 2015-2016, this has increased the number of our young people who have 
been able to attend these participation days. The feedback from our young people 
on the activity days remains extremely positive. 

Our young people have reviewed and developed a range of information for CiC and 
have made them more reader friendly and these can all be accessed via the Kent 
Cares Town website. 

Other significant developments have included the introduction of the Challenge 
Cards a system where our young people can challenge their Corporate Parents and 
responsible officers and these are discussed at the Kent Corporate Parenting Group 
(KCPG) and the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP). The responses are formalised 
and fed back to our young people. 

Ensuring our young people play a part in recruitment and training has also been a 
priority this year with the development of the Recruitment Crew and the development 
of a series of training events created with our young people.

There were 18 children in care in Early Years Foundation Stage 2 (Reception Class) 
this year. Overall 14 (78%) made good or better than expected progress from low 
starting points this academic year 2015-16. Out of the 4 that did not make expected 

Page 37



progress, all 4 (100%) had been in care less than 12 months and 5 of the total cohort 
had statements of special educational needs or Education Health and Care Plans. 

There were 80 children in care in Key Stage 1, of which 57 (71%) made good or 
better than expected progress. Of the 23 young people that did not make expected 
progress 13 had been in care less than 12 months and 25 had statements of special 
educational needs or Education Health and Care Plans. Children with SSEN and 
EHCPs are a priority focus group for academic year 2016-17.

There were 314 children in care in Key Stage 2, of which 206 (66%) made good or 
better than expected progress. Of the 107 that did not make expected progress 76 
had been in care less than 12 months and 51 had statements of special educational 
needs or Education Health and Care Plans.

There were 459 children in care in Key Stage 4 of which 193 (42%) made good or 
better than expected progress. Of the 266 that did not make expected progress 99 
were in care less than 12 months and 72 had statements of special educational 
needs or Education Health and Care Plans. This year has seen a real improvement 
in our young people attaining 5 A*- C inclusive of English and mathematics of 3% 
and has further seen a reduction in the gap with all Kent learners of 2%. This is down 
to effective collaboration between all key stakeholders and use of additional support 
from the Virtual School, such as Support Officers and Pupil Premium Plus.

There were 1089 children in care and care leavers in our 2015-2016 Year 12 and 
Year 13 cohort. At academic year end 2015/16, 280 young people were classified as 
Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) or Not Known (NK). This 
evidences a significant reduction from our December baseline data which showed 
that we had 577 NEET or their status was NK (53%).

In addition to the reduction of NEET last year, there were 7 young people in Year 13 
who successfully secured a place at University.

Informed by research we have used Pupil Premium Plus funding to focus on aspects 
that have the biggest impact on progress and attainment:

 Learning – Narrowing the gap e.g. falling behind in literacy and numeracy
 Behavioural e.g. risk of exclusion
 Emotional e.g. difficulty in engaging in education
 Attendance e.g. poor attendance or school refuser
 Social relationships e.g. with peers
 Transition e.g. end of key stage or in year change of school

As a result, the amount spent on each child varies, led by need. During 2015-2016 
all Pupil Premium Plus funding was spent effectively, with no money returned to 
national government.

There have been a multitude of success stories this year, evidenced at our Annual 
Awards Ceremony held and Kent County Cricket Ground in Canterbury. Our young 
people who attended had been nominated by their schools, social worker, foster 
carer or the Virtual School for their academic successes or their wider contribution to 

Page 38



the school, home or community. The Virtual School received well over 300 
nominations in 2015-2016 making it our most successful year ever.

In line with the Rees Centre research, data on our young people indicates there are 
key ‘risk factors’ which have an impact on their attainment and progress in school:

 Their mental health and well-being, the Virtual School has developed 
specialisms within the Support Officer Team to help support this as well as 
investment of Pupil Premium Plus to offer support in this area.

 The number of placement moves in particular at key educational points such 
as Year 6 but particularly in Key Stage 4 Year 10 and 11, Kent avoids non-
phased transfer school moves wherever possible to avoid school disruption.

 Time in care and age into care, the younger a child enters into care the more 
likelihood that attainment is greater. The Virtual School is also part of a 
national pilot working with the Association of Directors of Children’s Services 
(ADCS), the National Association of Virtual School Headteachers (NAVSH) 
and the DfE to establish a national system to measure performance and 
progress of young people whilst in care taking into consideration the above 
and many other salient factors.

All aspects of the Virtual School Improvement Plan 2015-16 were met. The only 
notable exception is the change to the national assessment methodology at all Key 
Stages has made evidencing previous trend impossible for 2015-2016.

Although 2015-2016 was a positive year for our Children in Care, we want all our 
young people within the Virtual School to continue this journey of improvement and 
our support in 2016-17 will reflect this ambition.

The ambition and aspirations of the Virtual School are closely linked within our 
Service Improvement Plan 2016-18.

 The Virtual School will continually monitor its structure ensuring high quality 
support and value for money within the national context of austerity.

 The Virtual School will sustain its relentless drive on raising the progress and 
achievement of our young people.

 The Virtual School will continue its drive to reduce the number of young 
people not engaged in Education, Employment or Training (EET).

 The Virtual School is looking to increase its digital footprint with involving our 
young people in the development of Kent Cares Town and other digital media 
projects.

Demographics
At academic year 2015-2016 end, the Virtual School had responsibility for 2281 
Children in care and care leavers.  There were 93 children at Early Years Foundation 
Stage (Pre-school to Reception), 1099 Year 1-Year 11 young people, with 1089, 
Year 12 and Year 13 (16-18 year olds) young people. The demographic profile has 
changed compared to previous years with 64% of compulsory school age children in 
care being of secondary school age and 45% being 14 years old and over. Most 

Page 39



significantly the profile of our Year 12 and 13’s now contains 64% Unaccompanied 
Asylum Seeking Children.

Ethnically the profile of our children in care are predominantly White British (64.5%) 
in relation to the compulsory school age cohort. The other significant cohorts are 
African at 8.1% and a cohort classified as other ethnic group at 15.6%.

Geographical dispersal of our children in care of compulsory school age remains dis-
proportionally in East Kent with 37.8%, South Kent 22.9%, West Kent 13.3%, North 
Kent 12.4% and 10% placed out of county of which 2.3% in Medway.

We currently have 253 children in care who have a statutory statement of special 
educational needs or an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP)

79.8% of our children in care of compulsory school age are in schools rated by 
Ofsted as Good or outstanding (13.7%-Outstanding). 14.9% are in schools rated as 
Requires Improvement (RI) and 0.9% are in category, these young people are 
closely scrutinised and are receiving good education. There are a further 4% who 
are currently not on a school role for a multitude of reasons such as currently being 
assessed at a reception centre, missing, awaiting specialist SEN provision and 
complex needs.

Attainment
Latest Validated Outcomes (Summer 2015)  

The DfE publish their statistical first release in relation to outcomes for Looked After 
Children in December each year so at the time of writing this report the only 
validated information available regarding children who have been in care for 12 
months or more is that relating to 2014-15. 

Key Stage 1 Outcomes

Indicator
2014 

Actual 

2015 
Number of 

Eligible 
Children 2015 Target

RAG 
(Actual 

vs. 
Target)

Direction of 
Travel (2014 vs. 

2015)
2015 all 
learners

All 
Learners 
direction 
from 2014

CiC v All 
Learners 

Gap 
narrowed SFR NA

SFR Kent 
Actual

KS1 % Level 2+ Reading 70% 41 71% ↑5% 84 90 ↓6% 11% 71 75
KS1 % Level 2+ Writing 56% 41 61% ↑2% 74 86 ↓12% 14% 63 58
KS1 % Level 2+ Maths 70% 41 72% ↑3% 84 93 ↓9% 12% 73 73

2014-15 has been a successful year for our 41 young people at Key Stage 1. All 
three indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 2 and 5% on 
2013-14, with Reading 4% above the latest national average for children in care, 
Mathematics at the national average and writing considered just below (two 
additional students would have made Kent children in care above the national 
average).

Page 40



Positively, Kent children in care have narrowed the gap with all Kent learners by 11% 
in Reading, 12% in mathematics and 14% in writing.  Key Stage 2 Outcomes

Indicator
2014 

Actual 

2015 
Number of 

Eligible 
Children 2015 Target

RAG 
(Actual 

vs. 
Target)

Direction of 
Travel (2014 vs. 

2015)
2015 all 
learners

All 
Learners 
direction 
from 2014

CiC v All 
Learners 

Gap 
narrowed SFR NA

SFR Kent 
Actual

KS2 % Level 4+ Reading 65% 77 68% ↑9% 89 89 ↔ 0% 9.00% 71 74
KS2 % Level 4+ Writing 58% 77 59% ↑7% 87 86 ↑ 1% 6% 61 65
KS2 % Level 4+ Maths 57% 77 61% ↑10% 86 86 ↔ 0% 10.00% 64 67
KS2 % Level 4+ Reading, Writing & Maths 44% 77 48% ↑12% 80.2 79 ↑1.4 10.60% 52 56

2014-15 has been a successful year for our 77 young people at Key Stage 2. All four 
indicators have seen an achievement improvement of between 7 and 12% on 2013-
14, with all indicators being between 3 and 4% above the latest national average for 
children in care. Positively Kent children in care has narrowed the gap with all Kent 
learners by 10.6% in reading, writing and mathematics combined.

Key Stage 4 Outcomes

2014-15 has been a successful year for our 138 young people at Key Stage 4.  
2013-14 saw the introduction of the first entry only methodology which led to only 8% 
of our young people achieving 5A*-C inclusive of English and Mathematics. This 
summer we have seen a 2.3% improvement on the previous year’s outcome placing 
us in line with the latest national average for children in care. Kent children in care 
have also narrowed the achievement gap with all Kent learners by 3%.

Attendance and Exclusion Trend Breakdown

Ac. Year ‘09/10 ‘10/11 ‘11/12 ‘12/13 ‘13/14 ‘14/15

Performance

Assessment

Framework 
CF/C24
25+days Absence

* Indicator 
changed to 
Persistent 
Absence (PA) 
from 2011/12

16.3% 12% *10.5% *9.5% *9.5%

*9.5

Page 41



% Permanent
Exclusion
(PEx)

1% 0.9% 0.54% 0.39% 0.39% 0.36%

2014-15 was another positive year for our young people in terms of attendance and 
permanent exclusions levels. These two indicators have remained stable over the 
past two years. It is important to note however that since the development of the 
Virtual School persistent absenteeism has reduced by 42% and Permanent 
Exclusion has reduced by 64%.

2016 Un-validated Data

Key stage 1 and 2 data in this report has been internally validated from the summer 
DfE data drop. 

Key Stage 1

Subject EXS+ CiC All Gap

Reading 41.5% 78.3% 36.8%

Writing 32.1% 71.4% 39.7%

Mathematics 34.0% 77.7% 43.7%

Key Stage 2

Subject AS CiC All Gap

Reading 41.9% 69.5% 27.6%

Writing 48.5% 65.6% 17.1%

Mathematics 41.9% 71.6% 29.7%

Combined 20% 57% 37%

Key Stage 4

Subject CiC Number  
5A*-C 

Total 
Cohort

Page 42



inc E&M

5A*-C (inc E&M) 14% 20 144

It is important to note that Key Stage 1 and 2 outcomes are not comparable to 
previous years as methodology and benchmarking have been changed by the DfE. 
To fully understand this data the comparison is with the 2016 Statistical First 
Release SFR which will be published in late December 2016. 

At Key Stage 4 Kent’s internally validated data currently evidences a 3.1% 
improvement on summer 2015. Furthermore, there is a 1% improvement in 5A*-C 
including English and Mathematics for all Kent learners, this evidences a 2% 
narrowing of the gap between children in care and all learners.  This is good 
progress and we would wish to continue and improve on this trend.

Key Stage 5 – NEET to EET

During the period between September 2015 and December 2015 there was a focus 
on data cleansing. The issues of data within the IYSS educational data system was 
compounded by the significant increases in new UASC arrivals. In December 2015, 
the true level of the NEET was known and being managed within the Virtual School.

The development of the Corporate Parenting Transitions Policy “Education, Training 
and Employment – Key Stage 4 and Beyond” has unquestionably supported the 
delivery in improved NEET to EET outcomes. The policy co-ordinates the roles, 
responsibilities of all departments into a clear procedural framework. The policy was 
developed by the Virtual School 16+ team in conjunction with multi agency partners, 
especially Skills and Employability. The policy has also been supported at the NEET 
interdependency meetings where its impact has been evident with live data for the 
16 to 18 year old cohort and the 18+ cohort shared and wider services having 
increasing awareness of the need to prioritise of Children in Care and Care Leavers. 

In December 2015, the cohort of Year 12 and 13 students that VSK had 
responsibility for supporting was 989. Of this cohort 653 were UASC (66%), 263 
were classified as NEET (26.6%) and Not Knowns (NK) were 261(26.4%) giving a 
total NEET/NK of 53%. The current data shows that the total cohort is 1087 of which 
678 (62.4%) are UASC. Of the 1087, 279 (25.7%) are currently classified as NEET 
and 0 (0%) Not Knowns.

Page 43



0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Sep-15 Jan-16 May-16
Percentage NEET/ NK 48

Percentage NEET/ NK
Ax

is
 T

itl
e

Attendance and Exclusion
Persistent Absence (PA) for academic year 2015-16 was set nationally by 
government at attendance of less than 85%. The total eligible cohort is the number 
of children in care throughout the academic year; this includes new arrivals and also 
those that leave care during the academic year. Therefore, the total number of 
children in care counted is 1452 of which 119 were classified as PA (8.2%). This 
evidences a 1.3% reduction in PA since 2014-15 academic year as evidenced in the 
Attendance Trend Breakdown Chart above.

Boys were over represented making up 69% of children in care with PA.  There is an 
obvious increase in PA between Yr 9-11 with Yr 9 showing 10% of PA pupils, 
growing to 21% in Yr 10 and peaking at 45% in Yr 11.  Thanet was the poorest 
performing district with PA with 15% of the total PA students within the local 
authority.  142 pupils experienced a Fixed Term Exclusion (FTExcl.) during 
academic year 2015-16 which is 9.8% of the total cohort. The average loss of days 
to FTExcl. per pupil is five and a half days.  The districts with the poorest 
performance around FTExcl are Thanet, Swale and Ashford making up 59 (41.5%) 
of the excluded students. It is important to note however the complexity of the 
children in care placed within the district, especially those placed within Thanet and 
Swale. Attendance and exclusion are a priority within East Kent Locality Team multi 
agency meetings. Resources are also proportionately deployed and as such East 
Kent get a higher level of resources than other areas within Kent. All our young 
people’s needs are closely tracked and monitored via the electronic Personal 
Education Plan (ePEP) and additional support identified and funded via the Pupil 
Premium Plus Grant.

The Virtual School has been collaborating with the Fostering Service in their 
development of strategies to improve placement stability. One such strategy is 
“Sense of Stability”, working closely with the Fostering Service we have identified our 
young people who are displaying single or multiple risk factors, such as poor 
attendance, fixed term exclusions, on a reduced timetable, attending alternative 

Page 44



provision, multiple placement changes in the past 12 months or flagged at risk of 
CSE. This highlights our most vulnerable cohorts and the programme looks to 
engage these young people with Outdoor Adventurous Activities (OAA) at some of 
Kent’s own Outdoor Centres at weekends also including residential opportunities. 
The aim is to provide a programme that re-engages the young people whilst 
developing their resilience and wider skills and also provides respite for the foster 
carers.

Participation and Engagement 2015-16
The team sits within the Virtual School Kent (VSK) and is led by the Specialist 
Children’s Services Participation Co-ordinator. It comprises of Care Leaver 
Apprentices whose apprenticeships and work streams are supported by the Virtual 
School Business Manager, and a Participation Support Officer, who is a graduate 
care leaver. 

Since the team’s conception in 2012, the Virtual School has supported ten Kent Care 
Leavers in undertaking Level 2 Apprenticeships in Business & Administration and 
also studied Functional Skills Level 1 or 2, five of whom received financial support 
from the Assisted Apprenticeship Scheme and five of whom were funded from the 
Virtual School’s core budget. During their time with the Virtual School all of our 
apprentices are required to work towards their NVQ qualification in Business and 
Administration at level 2 or 3. Each week one day is set aside to allow the 
apprentices to study and complete coursework in a supportive environment. This 
programme allows us to ensure that the apprentices leaving have a good 
qualification and a better chance at finding employment in the future. Also as care 
leavers themselves, they often have gaps in their education and the qualification 
enables them to gain the necessary qualifications in Maths, English and ICT that 
they may not have achieved when they were at school or college.

Overview, ‘Lead’ Areas for the team include developing and supporting forums for 
children and young people in care and care leavers Children in Care Councils. The 
Virtual School has responsibility for developing and supporting Kent’s Children in 
Care Councils. The councils comprise of 3 groups of children and 
young people:

 YAC (Young Adult Council) for young people aged 16-21 
 OCYPC (Our Children & Young People’s Council) for those 

aged 11-16 
 Super Council a new group established in early 2016 for 

younger children aged 7-11

These councils provide an essential forum for children in care 
to speak up and affect change in the care system. The 
younger councils meet on a regular basis in the school 
holidays and YAC meets in the evening on a monthly basis.

Page 45



Membership of YAC is growing, and the young people combine social activities, life 
skills sessions (like cooking on a budget and basic first aid) with more formal 
meetings. They have contributed this year to the 18+ Service new Pathway Plans, 
been involved in fund raising activities for children in care charities and have taken a 
lead role in supporting the ‘Recruit Crew’ to enable more young people to sit on 
interview panels for key job roles.

The OCYPC is well established and have met 5 times so far this year in different 
districts of the County; it has a strong core membership and includes several 
asylum-seeking young people. It has a constitution written by the council members, 
with a recent addition to the constitution being a Pledge agreed by the Corporate 
Parents to support the Councils. It recognises that there is work to be done to 
ensure the views of our Out of County Children are also represented.

The Super Council for younger members was set up as a ‘feeder’ group for the 
OCYPC, meetings are activity based, with the emphasis on fun. Children have 
however expressed their views on feelings on matters such as – what they think a 
good social worker and foster carer should do.

The apprentices within VSK, (who are care leavers) facilitate these groups with the 
assistance of Participation Team and others within the service. Meetings have been 
attended by Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel, Director of Specialist 
Children’s Services, Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting and other lead 
officers.

No of Young People who have attended the Children in Care Councils 
since October 2015
Super Council (7 to 11 years) 15
OCYPC (11 to 16 years) 42
YAC (16 to 21 years) 19

Participation Activity Days April 2015 – April 2016

The Virtual School run Participation Activity days during every school holiday. 
Between October 2015 and September 2016 19 events were held, attended by 452 
children and young people.  These days give young people the opportunity to meet 
other children in care and establish friendships. They often have a focus on a 
particular theme such as working as a team or their feelings on a particular topic.

The Participation Team has also supported Foster Carer Family Summer Fun 
Days organised by the District Social Care Teams. There have been 3 events 
this Summer in different parts of the county that have been extremely well 
supported, with further events planned for Christmas time.

Page 46



Challenge Cards 

Through consultation with Kent Corporate Parenting Group and children in care the 
Participation Team has developed the concept of ‘challenge cards.’ These cards 
allow children in care and care leavers to challenge their Corporate Parents around 
issues facing them in care.  

Kent Cares Town Website 

The ‘Kent Cares Town’ website is a resource for children in care to access a wealth 
of information around being in care. A large part of the content for this site has been 
written and designed by the participation apprentices. The website continues to be a 
work in progress and will be having a refresh of contents in the coming months. The 
link is www.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk  

Newsletters 

The Virtual School apprentices create a junior and a senior newsletter 3 times a 
year which is distributed to children in care and colleagues and more recently has 
developed a newsletter for young people aged 16 and over. They are an opportunity 
to promote some of the positive work that young people are involved in around the 
county. These can be viewed at: http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/our-news  

Recruit Crew 

The Virtual School P&E Team supports children in care and care leaver’s 
involvement in recruitment panels or inclusion on a professional’s panel. These are 
common occurrence within Specialist Children’s Services for the Director/Assistant 
Director posts, Senior Officers, IROs and newly qualified social worker posts. 23 
young people were involved supporting 44 interview panels and 18 Skills to Foster 
panels. A recent development has been developing a Service User Recruitment 1-
day Training Programme that is accredited through Laser that Recruit Crew 
members can attend to ensure they have a sound understanding of the expectations 
on them when sitting on a panel. It also gives formal recognition to their contribution.

Kent Pledge Cards 

Although the Kent Pledge is an important document a lot of young people found it 
difficult to understand. Based on this feedback, the Participation Team has been 
instrumental in working with the Communications Team to design a young person 
friendly version. This version takes the essence of the Kent Pledge and delivers it on 
a pack of eight cards which have been designed with children and young people in 
mind. Two sets of cards have been created to reflect the differing levels of 
understanding of children and young people. These cards are included in the 
‘coming in to care’ pack. 

Page 47

https://kccwebmail.kent.gov.uk/owa/redir.aspx?C=zsxusjiOkwUHSDOnLL8XfLg632yf4OZuNrDZ8Zk2dLM8XKQrmX3TCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk
https://kccwebmail.kent.gov.uk/owa/redir.aspx?C=NXHpMCKOAoHKU7D391j_a5nYKqCyGkH1sf0ETlJAJOQ8XKQrmX3TCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fkentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk%2four-news


Coming into Care Pack 

The VSK participation team has led on the creation of a ‘coming into care pack’ so 
that essential information can be given by social workers both to children coming in 
to care and in some cases to those who are already in care. Consultations have also 
taken place with young people throughout the process. The information is also 
hosted on the Kent Cares Town website: 
http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/information-about-being-in-care 

Locality/District Commitments 

The participation team engages with districts social work teams, the IRO Service 
and partners across Kent to promote participation and engagement.  

Hearing the voice of children in care and care leavers

Surveys - the participation team work hard to ensure children and young people 
have their voices heard by ensuring they have the opportunity to complete surveys 
relating to being in care, or just being a young person.

Focus Groups – the participation team facilitate focus groups to ensure that 
Members, teams within KCC and partner agencies are hearing the views and 
opinions of children in in care and care leavers.

Supporting care planning – working in conjunction with the IRO service on the 
development of young people chairing own reviews and increasing meaningful 
participation. 

Awards Ceremony 

Each year the Virtual School holds awards ceremony to celebrate achievements 
throughout the year. The participation team support this event by arranging some of 
the entertainment and activities for the children and young people as well as 
encouraging them to give their feedback and ideas. The participation apprentices 
also give a presentation at this event which helps to keep their colleagues informed 
about what participation and engagement has been taking place throughout the 
year. They also feed into the 16+ Awards Ceremony by using the event to promote 
awareness around the Young Adult Council (YAC).

Buddying Support 

Virtual School Apprentices have provided ‘buddying’ support when asked to do by 
social workers. 

Training

In conjunction with the fostering service and a Practice Development Officer, Virtual 
School Participation & Engagement care leaver apprentices are involved in the 
design and delivery of workshops focusing on improving Participation & 
Engagement. These are presented at an audience of social workers, IRO’s and 

Page 48

http://kentcarestown.lea.kent.sch.uk/information-about-being-in-care


foster carers. A total of eighteen workshops will have been delivered by June 2016. 
Care leavers are also involved in the ‘skills to foster’ training that is organised and 
facilitated by the fostering services. They are actively involved and their views of 
prospective carers are taken in to consideration by the assessing fostering social 
worker. 

Influencing the Commissioning of services

Formal and informal forums for children in care & care leavers to meet and inform 
service design and delivery which are going from strength to strength with increased 
membership and more consistent attendance. The groups have been consulted on a 
variety of topics including the 0-25 Accommodation Strategy and the review of 
Pathway Plans. Challenge cards have been established which allow these forums to 
‘Challenge’ the corporate parent on issues and areas of policy or social work 
practice they feel needs changing. 

Improving Communication

A web based App; MOMO (Mind of Your Own) is being piloted by SCS which 
provides a mechanism for children and young people to tell their social workers what 
they think about the services they receive and about their care plan. The VSK 
apprentices were part of the consultation process and will assist in the roll out of the 
project.

Representation at Regional and National Initiatives

The Virtual School P&E Team represent Kent County Council at a variety of regional 
and national initiatives such at the NCB: Taking it to the next Level workshop, Who 
Cares Trust groups, APPG meetings, and the Launch of the Children’s 
Commissioners annual report.  The Virtual School is also working with another local 
authority Participation Team to establish a regional group and this has met several 
times.

Children in Care Pupil Premium Grant (PP+)
The DfE made significant changes to the criteria and deployment of the children in 
care element of the Pupil Premium (PP) grant in the 2014-15 financial year. In 
2015/16, the Virtual School retained responsibility for administering the Pupil 
Premium+ Grant for Kent CIC and continues to receive £1,900 for each CIC and this 
funding will initially be retained by the Virtual School Kent Headteacher as required 
by the Department for Education (DfE). The funding is ring-fenced for making 
improvements for the educational attainment of children in care.

The payment of this funding to schools continues to be based on individual 
agreements between the Virtual School and schools. These agreements initially 
covered the period from 1st April 2015 through to 31st August 2015 via a manual 
application process. In September 2015, the application process successfully moved 
online via the Target Section of the ePEP for the remainder of the financial year and 
continues to be used in 2016/17.

Page 49



Virtual School Kent’s Pupil Premium+ Policy and information on the condition of the 
Grant can be found on the VSK website at 
http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/vsk-resources/pupil-premium-plus

The final position for the 2015/16 budget allocation was £2,705,600. The budget 
allocation was based on the March 2015 CIC Data Return (SSDA903) as set out in 
paragraph 10 of the conditions of grant. There was also an additional £435,200 
remaining in a reserve provision from the 2014/15 PP+ grant which was available for 
the Virtual School Kent’s use.

£3,064,314 was spent in 2015/16 with £76,486 returned to the 16/17 reserves for 
use in Term 5 & 6.

536 paper applications were received in the first quarter, with a further 1585 online 
applications received in the remainder of the financial year. In addition to this, a 
number of initiatives for citizen and unaccompanied asylum seeking children were 
put into place by directly VSK as countywide or locality based commissions.

A total of £359,862 (13% of the 15/16 grant) was spent on a variety of interventions 
and support programmes for UASC including school ready projects, tuition and EAL.

An additional payment of £600 per Kent child in care was made in February 2016 in 
respect of 965 eligible children placed in Kent (a total of £579,000). 38 schools in 
other local authorities were paid £46,200 in respect of 77 Kent children who attend 
school in their authority.

Intervention Types 

Types of support and interventions have remained varied, 2015/16 has seen an 
increase in targeted individual support put in place for children; this has been offset 
against a reduction in applications for group/school based approaches. Collaborative 
approaches across schools have continued and this year has included school ready 
projects for UASC.

Percentage of grant spent on:

In addition to the direct payments and initiatives in the localities, the Virtual School 
directly commissioned activities which included literacy development programmes 
such as Beanstalk and Paired Reading.

Page 50

http://www.virtualschool.lea.kent.sch.uk/vsk-resources/pupil-premium-plus


This map highlights the PP+ spend in each locality area plus the amount spent on 
countywide initiatives. 2015/16 PP+ spend was roughly in line with population 
distribution with the exception of Canterbury where they account for 11% of cohort 
and 21% of grant deployment. This again links with the PP+ policy around the Child 
Needs Model and the number of more complex children in care we have placed in 
East Kent due to location of specialist care settings. 

Priorities for 2016-17
These currently are:

 Continuing drive on improving academic outcomes. Particular focus on Key 
Stage 4 which is where the gap remains a challenge. 

 Preparing for the future assessment changes coming in 2017 in relation to 
Achievement and Progress 8.

 Relentless drive on securing opportunities to transition our young people from 
NEET to EET

 Particular focus on our young people with SEND ensuring progression is 
maximised

 Focus on developing the quality of PEPs (utilising the Pupil Premium Plus 
(PP+) conditions of grant as a lever)

 Development of an academic assessment tool to enable accurate profiling of 
need when a young person enters care.

Page 51



 Working with SEN colleagues to ensure appropriate provision at the right time 
for those children with special educational needs and those in need of 
assessment for EHCP.

 Translating the positive work of Participation and Engagement into 
measurable impact outcomes i.e. “You said We did”, changes in Policy and 
changes in service deliver. These developments will include: - 

 Developing local children in care groups - these groups are constantly 
developing and changing depending on the needs and views of our 
young people. We are aware that we need to ensure that we are being 
inclusive of all young people and aim to create more local groups that 
feed in to a central group during the coming year.

 Further development of the junior element of the children in care council 
with the aim of younger children becoming involved in the participation 
and engagement process. This will provide a forum for younger children 
to have their own say on issues around the care system but in a less 
structured and formal environment.

 Looking at ways to ensure that the views and opinions of Kent children 
in care who live in other local authorities are heard. We are keen to 
improve our links with other local authority Participation Teams and have 
a ‘sharing of ideas and ways of working day’ planned for October 2015 
with Surrey County Council. We are also working in partnership with 
our digital services team to look at ways of communication via social 
media.

 Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) and young people 
with disabilities - there is still an under representation of this cohort in the 
OCYPC/YAC and at participation days. In the coming months, the VSK 
Participation Team will be working hard towards engaging with these 
groups of young people, to enable them to have their voices heard. 
This will mean accommodating specific needs and addressing issues 
such as language barriers however a concerted effort will be made to 
engage these children and young people.

Tony Doran

Virtual Head Teacher Kent  

December 2016

Page 52


	Agenda
	A2 Minutes of the meeting of this Panel held on 9 November 2016
	OCYPC verbal update

	B1 Review of operation of the new Corporate Parenting Panel model
	B2 Review and Update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning Strategy - 2015 - 2018
	B2 App 1 Sufficiency Strategy Performance Summary

	B3 Head  Teacher of Virtual School Kent (VSK) Annual Report 2015 - 16
	B3 App 1 Virtual School Kent Annual Report 2015-2016


